The Merlin Effect Short Guide

The Merlin Effect by T. A. Barron

The following sections of this BookRags Literature Study Guide is offprint from Gale's For Students Series: Presenting Analysis, Context, and Criticism on Commonly Studied Works: Introduction, Author Biography, Plot Summary, Characters, Themes, Style, Historical Context, Critical Overview, Criticism and Critical Essays, Media Adaptations, Topics for Further Study, Compare & Contrast, What Do I Read Next?, For Further Study, and Sources.

(c)1998-2002; (c)2002 by Gale. Gale is an imprint of The Gale Group, Inc., a division of Thomson Learning, Inc. Gale and Design and Thomson Learning are trademarks used herein under license.

The following sections, if they exist, are offprint from Beacham's Encyclopedia of Popular Fiction: "Social Concerns", "Thematic Overview", "Techniques", "Literary Precedents", "Key Questions", "Related Titles", "Adaptations", "Related Web Sites". (c)1994-2005, by Walton Beacham.

The following sections, if they exist, are offprint from Beacham's Guide to Literature for Young Adults: "About the Author", "Overview", "Setting", "Literary Qualities", "Social Sensitivity", "Topics for Discussion", "Ideas for Reports and Papers". (c)1994-2005, by Walton Beacham.

All other sections in this Literature Study Guide are owned and copyrighted by BookRags, Inc.



Contents

The Merlin Effect Short Guide	1
Contents	2
Overview	
About the Author	4
Setting	6
Social Sensitivity	8
Literary Qualities	9
Themes and Characters	10
Topics for Discussion	12
Ideas for Reports and Papers	13
For Further Reference	14
Related Titles	16
Related Web Sites	17
Copyright Information.	18



Overview

The Merlin Effect combines scientific research procedures with the mythical stories of Merlin the magician and the conventions of modern fantasy. It tells the story of Kate Gordon and her father and their expedition to the coast of Baja California to search for a sunken Spanish galleon said to contain the lost horn of Merlin. Their research site also reveals unusual undersea volcanic activity, ancient fish that should be long extinct, local villagers with unusual longevity, and a group of ever-singing gray whales guarding a mysterious and dangerous whirlpool.

Always willing to test her limits, Kate gets sucked into the whirlpool where she meets Merlin himself, finds the horn, and battles with Merlin against the world's mortal enemy. Along the way, she resolves her relationship with her father, learns to make choices, and comes to understand her own powers of creation.



About the Author

T. A. Barron was born on March 26,1952 in Colorado Springs, Colorado. As a boy growing up surrounded by the mountains of Colorado, Barron developed a great respect for the natural world. Always an avid reader, he also loved to write down his own thoughts and feelings, and as a fifth grader even produced a personal magazine for his family and friends entitled "The Idiot's Odyssey." After receiving a bachelor's degree from Princeton University, he spent several years in Europe traveling and studying at Oxford University on a Rhodes scholarship. During this period, he also continued to write and completed his first novel. He abandoned his plans to be a professional writer after over forty publishers rejected this manuscript, and returned to the United States to pursue a law degree at Harvard University. However, instead of completing his law degree, he eventually moved to New York to seek success in the business world working for a small venture capital firm.

Although he temporarily stopped writing fiction, Barron continued to dream of one day becoming a writer. In 1990, a number of life changing events including the death of a close friend, marriage, and the birth of a child happened in rapid succession and prompted him to begin writing again in earnest. At this point he was also fortunate enough to meet Madeleine L'Engle, who asked to read the novel he was working on, a book that would eventually be Heartlight. L'Engle was so favorably impressed with Barron's work that she passed the manuscript on to her agent who in turn submitted it to Philomel, the children's di vision of Putnam Publishing, where Heartlight was published in the fall of 1990.

With the publication of Heartlight, Barron decided to take a chance on pursuing his longtime dream of becoming a full-time writer. So, in 1990, he moved back to Colorado and started writing from his home office in Boulder. Since 1990, he has written and published nine young adult novels, two nature books (To Walk in Wilderness: A Rocky Mountain Journal, 1993 and Rocky Mountain National Park: A 100 Year Perspective, 1995), and a picture book (Where Is Grandpa?, 2000).

Barron's books have been well received by critics and young adult readers alike. The Ancient One and The Merlin Effect have both appeared frequently on lists of best books chosen by young adult readers, as well as those selected by adults. For example, The Ancient One was selected for the International Reading Association's Young Adult Choices list and the Voice of Youth Advocates' Best Books of 1992 list. The Merlin Effect won the 1997 Texas Lone Star Award, the 2000 Best of the Texas Lone Star Reading Lists, and the 1998 Utah Book Award, among others. Barron's "Lost Years of Merlin" series continues to be cited by such groups as the American Library Association, the New York Public Library, and the Children's Book Council.

Barron says that he writes because it allows him to explore any place and any time period he chooses; he can travel into space, back in time, or under the ocean.



Writing for him is not only a way of telling stories, but also thoughtfully exploring the big questions of life. Before he can write his stories, he does extensive research so that he can successfully convince the reader of the reality of a fantastic place or time. For example, prior to writing The Merlin Effect, he learned about the legends of Merlin, the history of Spanish galleons (sailing ships), and the lives of gray whales, as wells as the sights, sounds, motion, and smells of the ocean.



Setting

Setting is one of the most important elements in Barron's writing; he believes strongly that readers must experience the world depicted in the story through all their senses.

To establish a tone of realism, he uses vivid and highly accurate descriptions of the natural world that look, feel, and smell true.

Then, once readers thoroughly believe in the reality of the story, Barron moves them gradually into the fantasy world of his book.

The Merlin Effect is set on the coast of Baja California and off shore in the Pacific Ocean.

The story opens with Kate Gordon—alone, paddling out to sea in a kayak, and pondering the state of her relationship with her father. Her isolation in the ocean intensifies her anger at her father. She feels he is ignoring and excluding her, and she dares herself to sprint beyond the second buoy in hopes of attracting his attention. When she reaches the second buoy, she has her first encounter with one of the inhabitants of the ocean, a gray whale caught in the wiring of the sonar transmitter. As Kate struggles to set the trapped whale free, she must also battle the cold, wet, and painful reality of the ocean until she is rescued by her father.

As the story unfolds and the setting is developed, it becomes clear that the amazing beauty of the Pacific Ocean is not the only awe-inspiring quality of this place.

Not only do the whales sing continuously, but there are local legends that claim these creatures have actually rescued sailors from drowning for centuries. The other sea life in the area is also strange; some of the fish resemble creatures that have been extinct for centuries. When Isabella (marine biologist and oceanographer) conducts genetic testing on specimens she buys from village fishermen, she discovers that not only the species but also the individual fish are actually hundreds of years old. The whirlpool, called "Remolino de la Muerte" by the villagers, is surrounded by mysterious mists reminiscent of Arthurian Avalon, and protected by the whales. Legends say that there is a Spanish galleon on the ocean floor, but no one has been able to penetrate the whirlpool to find it. Efforts by the research team to record a picture of it have been to no avail. Barron lends additional authenticity to the setting by providing a map of the lagoon and the ocean printed on the end papers of The Merlin Effect. By the end of "Part One: Beyond the Lagoon," the author has effectively established the real world and the challenges it poses for the research team.

By the time Kate is swept away in the whirlpool to the underwater world of the Spanish galleon, the reader is well prepared to experience this fantasy. In the murky and misty rooms inside the whirlpool, real and mystical time blend and become confused. At first, Kate and Sir Geoffrey have trouble communicating because she speaks in contemporary idiomatic English that he takes literally; his difficulty is her first clue that



time is confused. The air is very humid and full of mist, recalling the mists of Avalon that hid the magical island in Arthurian times. By the time Merlin's nemesis Nimue shows up, Barron has convinced his readers of the believability of the story and the reader has become fully engaged in the narrative.



Social Sensitivity

While The Merlin Effect poses few if any controversial issues requiring social sensitivity, it does raise some philosophical and scientific questions which students may find interesting to discuss. Terry, Isabella, and Jim disagree on the best way to discover what is "true" and they each bring the methods of different disciplines to their work. Barron also raises the question of whether truth can be discovered not only through facts but also through faith. The research project team seeks to find and retrieve the wreck of a sunken galleon.

There is controversy in this field concerning whether remains of this type should be salvaged or left as graves. Finally, Kate's choice to rescue the whale, even though it causes the destruction of the research equipment, poses questions about the impact of scientific research on the environment.



Literary Qualities

In The Merlin Effect, Barron weaves many traditional elements of the fantasy genre with mythology, scientific issues, and a contemporary setting to create a fresh, original story. The Merlin Effect includes a hero who must make difficult personal choices that have profound meaning, a quest, the discovery of the credible in the incredible, and the use of legendary materials to tell a new story. Kate's quests, both personal and universal, are most important to the story because she is the central character, but the other characters are also pursuing their own quests. Kate's mission is to find and save the Horn of Merlin to protect the world from evil, but she also seeks to find meaning and direction in her own life as well. For Kate, a trip to the incredible undersea world of Merlin and Nimue is the key to finding the answers to her own personal dilemmas.

Most quest fantasies for children and young adults tell the story of a male hero. Barron's use of a female hero who experiences adventure, danger, and a successful quest distinguishes his work from other fantasies and provides a strong role model for adolescent girls struggling with their own questions of identity and purpose. Finally, although there are a number of fantasies for young adults based on Arthurian legends, few, if any, combine those legends with a contemporary setting. This use of myth and legends connects the present with the past and provides a unique venue for exploring questions of adolescent identity.

Barron makes important use of symbols to tell his story and enrich its meaning. The central symbol of the novel is the spiral. It appears first as a code associated with the Resurreccion that is found in the Spanish archives. The whirlpool is a spiral that both hides the Treasures of Merlin and sweeps the characters to their adventures. Later, the image is found in the strands of DNA, which hold the basic elements to create life, and finally in the Horn of Merlin itself, which can grant immortal life. This spiral not only ties the story together, but it also symbolizes the vast, continuing nature of creation and life itself. The whirlpool is named the place of death, but the sunken or rebirth. Barron also makes use of cold and warmth to symbolize evil and good or danger and safety, while he use images of light and dark to signify good and evil.

Barron uses the "Ballad of the Resurreccion" to provide a sense of connection among all the elements of the story. The words of the ballad begin and end the novel. For Jim Gordon, the ballad is evidence that the sunken galleon, the Horn of Merlin, and Merlin himself did exist, although others may dismiss it as just a song. The ballad also creates a historical context for the strange occurrences in the lagoon and around the whirlpool. Kate has heard the ballad so often that she frequently recites lines from it to explain what is happening to her and comes to understand the truth of Merlin's story through the poetry of the ballad.



Themes and Characters

Barron develops the major themes of the novel through the character of Kate Gordon and the story of her inner struggles and her relationships with the other characters. In the course of her adventures, Kate explores the value of choosing, the importance of power, the ability to create, and the best way to determine truth.

The novel's main character, Kate Gordon, is an adventurous thirteen-year-old girl who is spending her summer vacation assisting her historian father on a scientific expedition to Baja California. Kate (who has had other fantastic adventures in Barron's previous novels, Heartlight and The Ancient One) feels somewhat distant and alienated from her father and longs to be closer to him. Like many adolescents, Kate feels powerless to create her own life, is seeking some goals and direction through her relationship with her father, and would like to be creative, but does not know where to start.

She hopes that spending time with her father will make them closer, but as the story begins she feels that he is so wrapped up in his work that he barely notices her existence. After he rescues her from the ocean, Kate and her father do experience a moment of closeness, but it is quickly shattered when she tells him that, in rescuing the whale, she damaged the sonar equipment so critical to the research project. After this incident, Kate is so despondent that she remarks to Isabella that "sometimes being alive does not feel so great" and believes the break in the relationship with her father is her fault.

Jim Gordon, Isabella, and Terry each introduce Kate to a different way of examining the world and determining the truth.

Jim is a historian who has spent his career trying to prove the historical truth of the legends of King Arthur and, more specifically, the existence of Merlin. Since myths cannot be definitively proved, his work requires that a certain amount of faith be mixed with fact. At the other extreme, Terry is a geologist who believes in the fundamentals of science and has figured out how to use sonar imaging with thermal sensing to measure volcanic activity. If he cannot see something, he does not believe it. When Kate is transported to the undersea world, she understands the limitations of this approach. Isabella is a marine biologist and oceanographer who uses genetic analysis to study the theory of evolutionary biology, but she understands that her data does not explain everything she is discovering. Her work enables her to understand creation as an ongoing process with all the possibilities for the future lying within the present. Her explanations of the continuing renewal of cells help Kate to understand that she has the power to create her own life by making choices.

When Kate falls overboard and is swept into the whirlpool, she encounters another group of characters who lead her through life-changing adventures at the bottom of the ocean. First, she meets a curious old Englishman named Sir Geoffrey of Birdseye who has been imprisoned in the whirlpool since the Resurrection sank in 1547. As it turns out, he is actually Merlin and has been hiding in the whirlpool for almost five hundred



years to protect the Horn of Merlin from the evil Nimue. Nimue craves the Horn of Merlin so strongly that she has been waiting outside the whirlpool for centuries so that she may steal it, drink from it, and become immortal. In order to lure Merlin out of the whirlpool, she captures Jim and Isabella and holds them prisoner.

Merlin transforms Kate into a fish and even allows her to experience the beginning of life as a water spirit, preparing her for the choices she must make to triumph. Using her evil ring to control Kate, Nimue commands Kate to kill her father. Ultimately, however, Kate is able to resist and joins in the battle with Merlin and her father to defeat Nimue and save the Horn.

Through her adventures with these characters, Kate learns that the power of free will and the ability to create your own life is the most important power of all. When she finally gets control of the Horn, she decides not to drink from it because she realizes that she has these powers within herself.

She also comes to understand that although she might like to live forever, she actually prefers the chance to continue to grow and change. Her new found wisdom has given her multiple ways of arriving at truth, a skill she can use to keep on growing.



Topics for Discussion

- 1. What is the Merlin Effect? How does it affect each of the characters in the story?
- 2. Choice is an important theme in the story. What choices do Kate, Merlin, Jim, and Terry make throughout the story? Why is Merlin's Horn so tied to choice?
- 3. Does Kate think power is important?

How is power represented in the story?

- 4. When Isabella asks Kate what her goals are, Kate tells her she would like to create something. When Kate chooses to return the Horn to the ocean, what do you think she has decided about her goals?
- 5. Barron uses figurative language to create the setting and characters in this story. Find examples of figurative language devices, including simile, metaphor, and personification and explain how they are used in the text.
- 6. Barron says that he was very conscious of needing to create an authentic female voice for Kate. Do you think he succeeded? In what ways are Kate's voice and character distinctively female?

How would this story be different if Kate were a boy?

- 7. Barron says that words contain powerful magic to create moods. What is the most important word in the story? Prepare a list of reasons that defends your choice.
- 8. What are the major conflicts in this book? Which conflicts are the most difficult for Kate to overcome? How does conflict advance the story?



Ideas for Reports and Papers

- 1. The stories of King Arthur and his court have a long history. Research the following elements of Arthurian legend that are mentioned in this book: Merlin, Arthur, Isle of Bardsey, Emrys, Thirteen Treasures of Britain, Nimue, and Avalon.
- 2. Jim Gordon, Terry, and Isabella are all engaged in research projects in Baja California. Jim is a historian, Terry is a geologist, and Isabella is a marine biologist. Find out more about these careers and what other types of research they might do.
- 3. Write a ballad or poem about Kate and the Horn of Merlin.
- 4. What kind of marine life really lives off the coast of Baja California? Does Barron describe his setting and its inhabitants accurately?
- 5. This story ends with many questions.

Will the team get a permit to continue its research? Is Terry dead? What will happen to the wreck of the Resurreccion now that is has been discovered? Will Merlin return again? Write another chapter that continues the story.

- 6. Research the biology and ecology of gray whales.
- 7. The news of this research expedition could be reported for a number of audiences: a national newspaper, a newsletter for historians, Kate's essay on what she did on her summer vacation, and scientific research article. Choose one of these audiences and write a report on what happened in the story.
- 8. The Merlin Effect is a sequel to both Heartlight and The Ancient One. Read one or more of these books and decide how Kate applied what she learned in the first two books to her challenges in this story.



For Further Reference

Barron, T. A. "The Remarkable Metaphor of Merlin." Book Links (January 1998): 29-34.

Beers, Kylene. "Portraits: An Interview with T.A. Barron." Emergency Librarian (MarchApril 1997): 61-63. Interview with Barron about his life as a writer.

Cassada, Jackie. Review of The Merlin Effect.

Library Journal (September 1994): 94.

Contemporary Authors, vol. 150. Detroit: Gale, 1996. Brief introduction to Barron's early work.

Cuthbertson, Ken. Authors and Artists for Young Adults, vol. 30. Detroit: Gale, 1999.

Brief biographical and critical introduction.

Dennis, Lisa. Review of The Merlin Effect.

School Library Journal (November 1994): 118.

Estes, Sally. Review of The Merlin Effect.

Booklist (November 1994): 491.

"Fantasy and Realism: Two Topics, One Author's Talk with T.A. Barron." Journal of Adolescent and Adult Literacy (1998): 588-594. Interview with Barron focusing on his view of genre of fantasy and how his works are created.

Feicht, Sylvia. Review of The Merlin Effect.

Book Report(January 1995): 42.

Lesene, Terry. "Words .. . Words .. . Words."

Teacher Librarian. (December 2000): 54-56.

Brief interview about the craft of writing with Barron and eight other young adult authors.

Perkins, Linda. "Caught Between: Review of The Merlin Effect." Wilson Library Bulletin (January 1995): 117-118.

Review of The Merlin Effect. Publishers Weekly (August 1994): 80.

Something about the Author,vol. 83. Detroit: Gale, 1996. Brief introduction to Barron's early work.



St. James Guide to Young Adult Writers. Second edition. Detroit: St. James Press, 1999.

Brief biographical and critical introduction to Barron's work.

Sullivan, Edward. "Arthurian Literature for Young People." Book Links (May 1999): 29-34.

"T.A. Barron: Glowing Like a Crystal."

School Library Media Activities Monthly (June 1995): 38-43. Interview with Barron.



Related Titles

Kate Gordon's adventures continue in two other novels, Heartlight and The Ancient One. In Heartlight, the first novel in this trilogy, Kate and her grandfather travel to a distant star to save the earth's sun from extinction. In The Ancient One, Kate finds herself helping her great-aunt battle loggers to save an old growth redwood forest by traveling back in time to fight the forces of evil. Like The Merlin Effect, these two novels combine science, fantasy, and myth with a strong female heroine who has extraordinary adventures in remarkable and intriguing settings. All three books explore connections: between people and other people, people and other cultures, and people and other forms of life.

Barron's research into the legends of Merlin for The Merlin Effect inspired him to explore the character of Merlin more deeply.

Many of the conflicts and themes introduced in Kate Gordon's adventures appear again in Barron's series "The Lost Years of Merlin Epic." These five volumes explore the childhood and young adult years of the great enchanter as he learns who he is and comes into his magical powers.



Related Web Sites

"T. A. Barron." Amazon.com talks to Thomas A. (T.A.) Barron. http://www.amazon.com/exec/obidos/showinterview/b-t-arronhomasata/ref=pm_dp_ln_b_8/102-38962118570513. (February 27, 2001). Interview with Barron about his approach to writing and his view of his work.

"T. A. Barron." The World of T. A. Barron: The Official Web Site. http://www.tabarron.com. Accessed 22 March 2001. Excellent website created and maintained by Barron, includes copies of articles written about him, curriculum materials, maps, and news about forthcoming work.



Copyright Information

Beacham's Encyclopedia of Popular Fiction

Editor Kirk H. Beetz, Ph.D.

Cover Design Amanda Mott

Cover Art is "Pierrot," 1947, by William Baziotes Oil on Canvas, 42 1/8 x 36 Donated by the Alisa Mellon Bruce Fund, ©, 1996 Reproduced with Permission from the Board of Trustees, National Gallery of Art, Washington, D.C.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data Beacham's Encyclopedia of Popular Fiction

Includes bibliographical references and index

Summary: A multi-volume compilation of analytical essays on and study activities for the works of authors of popular fiction. Includes biography data, publishing history, and resources for the author of each analyzed work.

ISBN 0-933833-41-5 (Volumes 1-3, Biography Series) ISBN 0-933833-42-3 (Volumes 1-8, Analyses Series) ISBN 0-933833-38-5 (Entire set, 11 volumes)

1. Popular literature ☐ Bio-bibliography. 2. Fiction ☐ 19th century ☐ Bio-bibliography. 3. Fiction ☐ 20th century ☐ Bio-bibliography. I. Beetz, Kirk H., 1952-

Z6514.P7B43 1996[PN56.P55]809.3 dc20 96-20771 CIP

Copyright ©, 1996, by Walton Beacham. All rights to this book are reserved. No part of this work may be used or reproduced in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopy, recording, or in any information or storage and retrieval system, without written permission from the copyright owner, except in the case of brief quotations embodied in critical articles and reviews. For information, write the publisher, Beacham Publishing Corp., P.O. Box 830, Osprey, FL 34229-0830

Printed in the United States of America First Printing, November 1996